STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Aiken County

Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2015-UP-466 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 9/30/2015)

12-GS-02-01682, 00304, 00306-00312, 00314&00332

RECEIVED

DEC 27 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

HAROLD BENNON CARTWRIGHT, III,

PETITIONER.

APPELLANT CASE NO.2016-000005

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

QUESTION PRESENTED

1.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by finding no error in the trial court admitting evidence petitioner attempted to commit suicide while incarcerated on the charges in this case since this evidence was irrelevant, and even if relevant its probative value was substantially outweighed by its unduly prejudicial effect under Rule 403, SCRE?

2.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by finding no error in the trial court admitting photographs of petitioner's prison cell to corroborate the fact he attempted to commit suicide since this evidence was similarly not relevant, and unduly prejudicial if relevant?

3.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by finding no error in the trial court qualifying Dr. Alicia Benedetto as an expert in "child sexual abuse dynamics" where she frankly acknowledged her job was to conduct interviews and not conduct research or studies and the judge thus abused his discretion by qualifying her as an expert to render opinion testimony under Rule 702, SCRE in this case?

4.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by finding no error in the trial court qualifying Benedetto as an expert allowing her to bolster the testimony of the alleged victims, where the jury would draw the impermissible inference that the alleged victims were conducting themselves consistently with other victims of child sexual abuse?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was indicted by the Aiken County Grand Jury for eight counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree, sixteen counts of a lewd act with a minor, two counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree, one count of criminal sexual conduct first degree, and one count of criminal sexual conduct in the third degree. R. p. 370 - 425.

His case came on for trial on April 15, 2013 before the Honorable Doyet A. Earley, III, and a jury. Michael Routzong and Dave Hayes represented petitioner. Kevin Molony was the assistant solicitor. R. p. 1

On April 18, 2013 the jury found petitioner guilty on each count presented to the jury. R. p. 356, l. 14 – 363, l. 22. Judge Early sentenced petitioner to concurrent sentences of thirty years imprisonment, twenty years imprisonment, and fifteen years imprisonment. However, the judge imposed a ten-year consecutive sentence for criminal sexual conduct in the third degree. Petitioner's sentence was therefore forty years imprisonment. R. p. 368, l. 4 – 369, l. 8.

The Court of Appeals affirmed in a summary opinion. State v. Harold Bennon Cartwright, III, 2015-UP-466 (filed September, 2015-UP-466 (filed September 30, 2015). App. 1-3. Petitioner sought rehearing. App. 4-9. Rehearing was denied on December 4, 2015. App. 10-11. This petition for a writ of certiorari follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Introduction

People commit suicide for many reasons, and despair and feelings of hopelessness are surely near the top of the list of reasons. Respectfully, to simply assume a person is attempting suicide because they have been accused of committing a crime, and that are guilty of that crime, is as shallow as it is cruel and moral offensive.

All five members of this Court voted to grant certiorari on this identical issue in State v. Orozco, 392 S.C. 212, 708 S.E.2d 227 (Ct. App. 2011) on October 17, 2012. After briefs were submitted, Petitioner Orozco chose to dismiss his appeal, and this Court dismissed the appeal in its order dated September 5, 2013. This case now provides the procedural vehicle to resolve this important legal and moral issue.

Trial facts

Prior to trial defense counsel moved to exclude evidence that petitioner attempted to commit suicide while in the Aiken County Detention Center awaiting trial. The assistant solicitor noted that at the prior trial, which apparently ended in a mistrial, that the state had introduced evidence of petitioner's suicide attempt and photographs to corroborate it. R. p. 5, ll. 4-18. The solicitor argued this evidence was admissible to show "a guilty conscience." He analogized the suicide evidence to evidence of flight. R. p.5, ll. 11-18.

Defense counsel noted that petitioner had turned himself in which showed he was willing to "face these charges." Defense counsel also argued that the state had to establish a nexus between the suicide attempt and the charges against him. In addition, counsel argued that even if this evidence was relevant its unduly prejudicial effect outweighed its probative value under Rule 403, SCRE. R. p. 5, l. 20 – 7, l. 23. Defense counsel finally stated that this evidence diluted the

presumption of innocence, and it could be construed as evidence of bad character. R. p. 6, l. 19 – 7, l. 23.

The judge ruled that, in all likelihood, he would admit this suicide evidence. However, he noted that he understood defense counsel's argument about the nexus and his additional Rule 403, SCRE argument. R. p. 7, l. 24 – 9, l. 3.

“Expert” testimony

Defense counsel also moved to exclude the testimony of witness Dr. Alicia Benedetto. The solicitor said this witness had testified before Judge Early previously. The judge responded: “I know that, ma’am, but I do so many of these I really and truly cannot remember her.” The solicitor maintained: “She will be qualified as an expert in child sexual abuse dynamics and will testify as to the behavioral issues of children that have been abused.” The solicitor added that Dr. Benedetto could testify that children who are sexually abused “act out,” and she could testify “how factors in the home can affect children that have been sexually abused and things of that nature.” R. p. 14, l. 16 – 15, l. 25.

Defense counsel argued this testimony was not admissible under Rule 702, SCRE because it would not assist the jury. Defense counsel also argued that *the only issue is whether the alleged victims were testifying truthfully, and that matters of credibility are “strictly within the purview of the jury.”* R. p. 16, l. 1 – 18, l. 13. (emphasis added).

The judge said that testimony dealing with “behavioral characteristics were admissible so as long as it did not invade the province of the jury regarding credibility.” Defense counsel and the judge then discussed State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 473, 523 S.E.2d 787, 794 (Ct.App. 1999), and State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737, S.E.2d 490 (2013). R. p. 16, l. 1 – 18, l. 13. Defense counsel noted that the appellate courts in this state were going in the direction of excluding this type

of evidence. R. p. 17, ll. 23-25. Defense counsel further noted that State v. Kromah was the Court's latest holding on the subject, and it supported the defense position that the "expert testimony" in this case should be excluded. The judge observed that the witness had not talked with the minor witnesses, and he stated that testimony about "general behavioral responses" was admissible. R. p. 16, l. 1 – 21, l. 16.

As will be seen infra, petitioner testified and denied the sexual abuse. He claimed the accusations stemmed from resentment of him for having the boyfriend of his fourteen-year-old daughter prosecuted for having sex with her. Petitioner had also contacted law enforcement about his concerns of her photographs were being posted on the internet along with her friends. In addition, he suspected a sexual relationship between his son Hoss and his stepdaughter, and he had found marijuana in his room. Concerning the evidence of petitioner's suicide attempt, which was allowed into evidence over defense objection, petitioner attempted to explain that he felt hopeless "at that time" because he was not able make bond, and because some members of his family had had turned on him.

As will also been seen infra, there was also evidence in this case of recantations, and minors "acting out." Witness Benedetto would then give her "expert testimony" that recantations were not uncommon and they did not mean that the children were not sexually abused. Further, Benedetto opined minors "acting out" was also symptomatic of sexual abuse.

Daughter testifies

Daughter was the biological daughter of petitioner and Melinda Lively. She was twenty-eight-years-old at the time of the trial. R. p. 31, l. 9 – 32, l. 6. Hoss Cartwright and Jamie Cartwright were her natural siblings. Her stepsiblings were Stepdaughter 2 and Stepdaughter 1. R. p. 32, ll. 7–12.

Daughter claimed when she was four years old (i.e. 24 years previously) petitioner had her perform oral sex on him. Daughter said she told her mother about this incident but her mother did not believe her. She also claimed petitioner threatened to kill her, her mother, and take his own life if she reported the incident. R. p. 32, l. 18 – 35, l. 4.

Daughter maintained the abuse continued from the time she was six-years-old until she was ten- years-old when her mother left petitioner and moved them to Georgia. R. p. 35, l. 18 – 39, l. 23. Daughter said after the oral sex petitioner would buy her things, and give her money. R. p. 39, ll. 2-5.

Daughter's future husband goes to jail for CSC

On cross-examination, Daughter acknowledged she never said anything about the alleged sexual abuse from 1995 until 2011. She acknowledged she married Kevin Autry and that he had served three years in prison for criminal sexual conduct for his conduct involving her. She acknowledged her husband had to register as a sex offender because of that conviction. She refused to admit that petitioner was the person who successfully pushed for law enforcement to prosecute Autry for his improper sexual relationship with her. She acknowledged after her parents were divorced that petitioner still had visitation privileges with her. R. p. 47, l. 3 – 50, l.10.

The ex-wife

Petitioner's ex-wife, Melinda Lively, then testified that Daughter was her oldest daughter. Jamie Cartwright and Hoss Cartwright were her other children. R. p. 53, l. – 54, l. 6. Lively testified that Daughter claimed she was sexually abused when she was four or five years old. Lively claimed that she did not contact law enforcement because petitioner threatened at gunpoint to kill them if they told anybody. R. p. 54, l. 7 – 55, l. 3.

Lively admitted in her complaint for divorce in 1997 that she did not allege sexual abuse had taken place, and she agreed that petitioner was entitled to visitation with the supposedly sexually abused children. She said she did not allege anything, and she did not fight visitation because she did not have “any evidence” against petitioner. R. p. 55, l. 9 – 57, l. 6. Lively admitted she remembered petitioner alleging that Lively allowed her oldest daughter, Casie, who was only fourteen-years-old, to engage in sexual relationship with a twenty-three year-old man. R. p. 59, l. 8 – 60, l. 14.

Stepdaughter 1 testifies

Stepdaughter 1 was petitioner’s stepdaughter. She was twenty-one years old at the time of trial. R. p. 63, l. 2 – 65, l. 10. Stepdaughter 1 said she was seven years younger than Casie and three years older than Stepdaughter 2. R. p. 64, ll. 4-12.

Stepdaughter 1 maintained that when she was in the third grade petitioner made her perform oral sex. R. p. 65, l. 17 – 67, l. 1. Stepdaughter 1 said this happened “a few times a month,” and that petitioner would buy her gifts afterwards. R. p. 67, ll. 1-23. Stepdaughter 1 acknowledged petitioner was arrested as a result of her allegations. However, Stepdaughter 1 recanted her allegations when she was about ten years old, and she told the solicitor the sexual abuse complained of never actually happened. She said that petitioner moved back into the home shortly after she recanted. R. p. 68, l. 2 – 70, l. 24.

Stepdaughter 1 claimed after petitioner returned to the household that he would “hump” her leg about “three to seven times a week.” He continued to buy her gifts, and take her shopping. Stepdaughter 1 alleged that petitioner threatened to kill the entire family, and then himself if she told. R. p. 70, l. 12 – 73, l. 13. Stepdaughter 1 testified the oral sex ceased from the time she was

nine years old until she was fifteen. At fifteen, Stepdaughter 1 claimed she agreed to have sexual intercourse with petitioner under duress. R. p. 73, l. 11 – 80, l. 19.

On cross-examination Stepdaughter 1 admitted she became involved in drugs with Timothy Bowman. She acknowledged that she also became very rebellious. R. p. 93, l. 1. – 94, l. 13.

Recantation

Michelle Prince was a DSS employee who investigated Stepdaughter 1's allegations. Prince acknowledged she was aware Stepdaughter 1 had recanted them. R. p. 96, l. 25 – 100, l. 12.

Stepdaughter 2, the internet, and Hoss

Stepdaughter 2 was petitioner's other stepdaughter. Stepdaughter 2 was eighteen-years-old at the time of petitioner's trial. She testified she had a good relationship with petitioner when she was younger but she maintained that changed when she was about thirteen-years-old. She said petitioner then began "humping" her on the leg, and that she despised him. R. p. 101, l. 4 – 103, l. 8. Stepdaughter 2 said petitioner would buy her items after the sexual abuse. She also said petitioner would become angry and threaten to kill the entire family. R. p. 104, l. 15 – 105, l. 16.

Stepdaughter 2 said she later was homeschooled in a shed by petitioner, and at some point, they began having sexual intercourse. Stepdaughter 2 said she began taking birth control pills, and she maintained that was petitioner's idea. R. p. 107, l. 10 – 109, l. 14.

Stepdaughter 2 admitted that petitioner became very upset because there were photographs of her on the internet. Stepdaughter 2 said she did not have any reason to be embarrassed about the photographs because petitioner was mistaken in thinking they were photographs of her. R. p. 129, l. 5 – 131, l. 6. Petitioner would later strongly dispute the assertion of mistaken identification. Stepdaughter 2 also denied a romantic relationship with petitioner's son, Hoss, as petitioner suspected. R. p. 131, ll. 3-12.

Buffy Brown

The testimony of Buffy Brown was read to the jury since a medical condition after the first trial prevented her from testifying live. R. p. 139, l. 21 – 141, l. 15. Buffy married petitioner in December of 1999 and their divorce was just finalized prior to her testimony in 2013. Buffy testified that Stepdaughter 1 had alleged petitioner sexually abused her. Buffy admitted that Stepdaughter 1 recanted her allegations, and Buffy now maintained that she “probably did put some pressure on Stepdaughter 1 [to recant] because he [petitioner] had convinced me he had done nothing wrong.” R. p. 142, l. 4 – 143, l. 25.

More on recantations

Petitioner moved back in after Stepdaughter 1’s recantation. R. p. 144, ll. 1-12. Buffy said that petitioner’s stepdaughters, Stepdaughter 1 and Stepdaughter 2, always referred to him as “Daddy.” She did not believe they were being molested. She also acknowledged that Stepdaughter 1 had “some problems” such as sneaking out of the house. However, she was not positive that Stepdaughter 1 also had begun drinking at a young age. R. p. 151, l. 22 – 155, l. 1.

Brown denied she tried to protect petitioner, and she said she simply did not believe anything of a sexual nature had been going on with the minors. R. p. 155, ll. 2-18. Brown maintained now that she may have been “naïve.” R. p. 155, ll. 19-22.

Hoss Cartwright

Eighteen-year-old Hoss Cartwright testified that petitioner made vulgar comments to his stepsister, Stepdaughter 2, while they were growing up together. R. p. 169, ll. 2-19. Hoss also said he found petitioner’s inspections of Stepdaughter 2’s clothes before school “odd.” R. p. 169, ll. 8-17.

Hoss denied petitioner caught him smoking marijuana. Hoss essentially admitted he was smoking marijuana but he maintained that petitioner never caught him. R. p. 175, ll. 7-20. Hoss confirmed that petitioner thought he, Hoss, was having sex with his stepsister. R. p. 175, ll. 16-20.

Benedetto testimony

As seen, petitioner objected to the testimony of Dr. Alicia Benedetto prior to trial. R. p. 203, ll. 5-17. Benedetto testified she worked with the Assessment and Resource Center (ARC). Benedetto said, “most of what the ARC does is forensic interviews when there are allegations of abuse.” R. p. 204, ll. 17-20.

Benedetto had a Ph.D. from St. Johns University in Psychology. R. p. 205, ll. 4-7. She had conducted a five-day training on Finding Words for prosecution officials. R. p. 206, ll. 1-21. Benedetto said her experience was not based “in books” but on the fact, “I interview children every day. That’s basically what, what I do. So, at the ARC, I conduct forensic interviews on a daily basis. I’ve done that for the past 12 years.” R. p. 207, l. 20 – 208, l. 6. Benedetto said she had been qualified before as an expert in “child sex abuse dynamics.” R. p. 208, ll. 15 – 209, l. 3.

On cross-examination defense counsel inquired about exactly what “child abuse dynamics” involved. Benedetto said it “refers to how children experience abuse, and that’s oftentimes what, what I’m qualified in.” R. p. 209, ll. 3-17. When asked how many studies she had been involved in regarding child abuse dynamic, Benedetto answered that she *conducted interviews and not studies*. She was not a researcher on the subject. R. p. 210, ll. 16-22.

Defense counsel Hayes then objected to Benedetto being qualified as an expert witness, and allowing her to give expert testimony. He noted that she testified and admitted her background was doing forensic interviews, and she was not involved in studies and research. The state had not shown that her testimony was objectively reliable. R. p. 211, ll. 1-12.

The judge denied the motion to exclude her testimony, and he ruled that Benedetto was qualified to give her opinion testimony regarding “child abuse dynamics.” R. p. 211, l. 13 – 212, l. 12. The judge said he would later give an instruction on expert opinion testimony to the jury. R. p. 212, ll. 7-13.

Alleges no knowledge regarding this case

Benedetto maintained she did not know anything about the facts of this prosecution. She said that “Child Sexual Abuse Accommodation Syndrome” involved a pattern of behavior “that a child may engage in that would otherwise seem to not make sense to us.” R. p. 213, ll. 7-21. Benedetto said because a child responded differently than an adult to sexual abuse that did not mean that the child was not telling the truth. R. p. 214, ll. 4-7.

Benedetto said that victims of child sexual abuse were told not to tell about the abuse. She said it was not unusual for an abuser to buy gifts for the abused children. R. p. 214, l. 10 – 215, l. 14. In addition, she said the children often thought they may be harmed if they did not keep the abuse a secret. R. p. 217, l. 5 – 220, l. 4.

Benedetto was then specifically asked about recantations. Benedetto answered that a child recanting or taking back their allegation of abuse did not mean that the abuse did not happen. She claimed, “we’re open to the possibility that it’s a true recantation, but we also know that *many times a child recants because of what happens after they tell, and so we want to be sure not to miss those cases.*” R. p. 223, l. 21 – 224, l. 11. (emphasis added). Benedetto maintained that sometimes children recanted because they feared having to change schools or other consequences based on their allegations. R. p. 224, ll. 12-22.

Benedetto also told the jurors that sexual abuse can cause minors to begin drinking or using drugs which have a negative influence on their health. R. p. 225, ll. 9-13. Benedetto added that

minors “acting out” was also not unusual when they were being sexually abused. R. p. 225, l. 14 – 226, l. 17. Benedetto also maintained that if a child does **not** get upset or act out or show emotion that did not mean that they were not sexually abused. R. p. 226, ll. 18-21.

Suicide Attempt

The state proffered the testimony of Aiken County Detention Guard James Hettich. Hettich testified on April 13, 2011 he observed petitioner hanging in his jail cell with a sheet tied from his bunk. R. p. 249, l. 5 – 251, l. 2. Hettich testified that the sheet was tied tight, and that petitioner was unresponsive while hanging from the neck. “His touch was cold and clammy. He was unresponsive. He wasn’t speaking. He was breathing however.” R. p. 251, ll. 1-21.

Defense counsel told the judge that he did not have any additional arguments about why this suicide evidence should be excluded. The judge then cited this court’s opinion in State v. Orozco, 392 S.C. 212, 708 S.E.2d 227 (Ct.App. 2011) as support for the suicide evidence being admitted.¹ The judge ruled the evidence was admissible. R. p. 253, l. 5 – 254, l. 1.

Jury in

Hettich then testified that while working as a correctional officer at the Aiken County Detention Center on April 13, 2011 he was notified that petitioner was trying to harm himself. Hettich saw petitioner hanging from the top bunk by a sheet. He along with another deputy were able to untie the knot from the bed sheet. They laid petitioner on the floor. Two photographs, State’s Exhibits 12 and 13, of petitioner’s jail cell where the suicide attempt occurred were then

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