STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Aiken County
Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JAN 20 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

HAROLD BENNON CARTWRIGHT, III,

Petitioner.

Appellate Case No. 2016-000005

**RETURN TO PETITION
FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

STROM THURMOND, Jr.
Solicitor, Second Judicial Circuit

PO Box 3368
Aiken, SC 29802

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

[Coudotte] is a lone case which is distinguishable from the generality of authority on the point of attempted suicide by an accused being a circumstance in a homicide case proper to be considered by the jury in connection with all the evidence. . . . There were no other facts or circumstances with which it could be considered by the jury as tending to show guilt, and to be given such weight, or no weight, as the jury might determine. It was sought to be proven as an isolated circumstance sufficient in itself to furnish the corroboration of the testimony of an accomplice, required by the statute, as to the guilt of an accused. The court held that it was not enough and reversed the case. As pointed out in State v. Painter [329 Mo. 314, 44 S.W.2d 82], in reviewing the Coudotte case: “The court was not called upon to and did not decide whether or not, had there been otherwise a submissible case made, the attempt to commit suicide might have been proved as a circumstance for the consideration of the jury.”

Id.

In People v. Foster, 371 N.E.2d 961 (Ill. App. Ct. 1977) *rev'd on other grounds by People v. Foster*, 392 N.E.2d 6 (Ill. 1979), the Illinois Court of Appeals found an insufficient nexus existed between the suicide attempt and the crime charged. In the instant case, Cartwright acknowledged during trial that his suicide attempt was prompted by new charges being made against him by a third victim, a victim he thought had gone away a long time ago.

Numerous courts around the country have considered this issue and held evidence of an attempted suicide, similar to evidence of flight, is admissible to show consciousness of

guilt and can be considered and given such weight as determined by the jury. See People v. Barrett, 136 P. 520 (Cal. Dist. Ct. App. 1913); McKinney v. State, 466 A.2d 356 (Del. 1983); Sloan v. State, 104 So.3d 1271 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2013); Aldridge v. State, 494 S.E.2d 368, 370 (Ga. Ct. App. 1997) (noting “[e]vidence that the accused attempted to commit suicide is relevant. . . to show consciousness of guilt . . . or as showing an attempt to flee and escape forever from the temporal consequences of one’s misdeeds” (citations and internal quotation marks omitted, ellipses in the original)); State v. Mitchell, 450 N.W.2d 828 (Iowa 1990); Commonwealth v. Sheriff, 680 N.E.2d 75, 83 (Mass. 1997) (finding evidence of a defendant’s suicide attempt is admissible to show consciousness of guilt); State v. Painter, 44 S.W.2d 79 (Mo. 1931); State v. Campbell, 405 P.2d 978 (Mont. 1965); State v. Brown, 517 A.2d 831 (N.H. 1986); State v. Jagers, 58 A. 1014, 1014 (N.J. 1904) (finding evidence of a suicide attempt while defendant was in custody “was plainly admissible”); State v. Mann, 625 A.2d 1102 (N.J. 1993); State v. Blancett, 174 P. 207 (N.M. 1918); State v. Hunt, 287 S.E.2d 818 (N.C. 1982); Commonwealth v. Sanchez, 610 A.2d 1020, 1027 (Pa. Super. 1992); State v. White, 649 S.W.2d 598 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1982).

The legal issue simply comes down to a question of balancing under Rule 403, SCRE. For evidence to be admissible, it must be relevant. Rule 402, SCRE. Relevant evidence is “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears, and it is not required that the inference sought should necessarily follow from the fact

proved.” State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 126-27, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004). Relevant evidence may be excluded where its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE; State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 210, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006). A trial court’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. State v. McLeod, 362 S.C. 73, 81, 606 S.E.2d 215, 219 (Ct. App. 2004).

In the instant case, the evidence is simply not unfairly prejudicial. Juries are capable of understanding the various reasons a person may attempt suicide and no danger of unfair prejudice exists. No danger exists that the jury will utilize the evidence for any other purpose than the proper probative purpose, consideration of whether the suicide attempt is evidence of consciousness of guilt. However, as discussed in the case law of many jurisdictions, the evidence carries sufficient probative value as consciousness of guilt to be admissible.

Like many predators, Cartwright may have believed he would be able to intimidate his step-daughters and they would recant. Buffy convinced her oldest daughter to recant once before, and Cartwright may have counted on Buffy to come through for him again. However, his hopes of skirting ramification for his actions changed drastically when he learned Daughter disclosed his abuse to law enforcement. Cartwright could escape his past no more. Daughter recanted under pressure years ago. But Daughter was beyond his reach now and he was defenseless against the truth. At trial, Cartwright exhausted one desperate defense after another. But his scheme of using violence and threats to keep families in which his daughters, instead of his spouses, were his sexual partners, was coming to light. The jury was free to believe that he tried to kill himself because he loved his children too much, just

like they could have believed he never was violent or that three different victims and two mothers were vindictive and fabricated ornate tales of abuse, or that his biological daughter waited twelve years to get back at Cartwright for causing her current husband to be prosecuted, or that Stepdaughter 2 posted pictures of herself despite what every other person (including law enforcement) who saw the pornographic pictures testified to, or that Cartwright was victim to an elaborate scheme to get valuable items he allegedly kept in his double wide trailer. However, the jury used common sense and found him guilty. There was no error. Further, any error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (holding whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the case, but it is harmless where it could not reasonably have changed the outcome of the trial).

II.

The trial court did not err in qualifying the expert in the field of child abuse dynamics where the expert was well qualified under Rule 702, SCRE, with the requisite education, experience and training, and the testimony was reliable under Rule 703, SCRE; further, any argument that the testimony constituted impermissible bolstering is not preserved for review and the testimony does not constitute impermissible bolstering.

Cartwright argues the trial court erred in admitting Dr. Benedetto as an expert just because she has not performed research. Essentially, Cartwright is asking this Court to turn a blind eye to the plain language of Rule 702, SCRE, which allows a person to gain the requisite knowledge to be qualified as an expert in a variety of ways, not just clinical research. His second argument is that Dr. Benedetto's testimony constituted impermissible bolstering. This argument was not raised below and is not preserved for appeal. Further, Dr. Benedetto's testimony is not impermissible bolstering.

The well-qualified expert

Cartwright made the following objection when the prosecution sought to admit Dr. Benedetto as an expert:

Judge, at this time I would object to her being qualified as an expert. Child abuse dynamics is an empirical study that is based on the study of children and observing and watching their behaviors. She's testified today that she's done interviews in forensic settings. She has trained forensic examiners, officers and solicitors. And when I questioned her, I asked her if she had done any of the actual studies herself. She has indicated she has not. As to – and that will go to the subject matter and expert qualification. And, again, Judge, she'd have to show that it is a reliable study, a reliable science.

ROA p. 96, lines 1-12. The trial court ruled as follows:

All right. I will deny your motion. I find that, based on her training, education, clinical experience, her various memberships in organizations, that she will be qualified as an expert in the trial of this case. She'll be allowed to give opinion testimony dealing with sexual abuse dynamics.

ROA p. 96, lines 13-18. His ruling notes a variety of ways an expert may gain the requisite experience. Under Rule 702, SCORE:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Before admitting expert testimony, the trial judge must find: (1) the expert's testimony will assist the trier of fact; (2) the expert has the required knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education; and (3) the testimony is reliable. State v. Martin, 391 S.C. 508, 514, 706 S.E.2d 40, 42 (Ct. App. 2011).

“Expert testimony may be used to help the jury to determine a fact in issue based on the expert's specialized knowledge, experience, or skill and is necessary in cases in which the subject matter falls outside the realm of ordinary lay knowledge.” Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010). “A trial court's decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion.” State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009). “There is no abuse of discretion as long as the witness has acquired by study or practical experience such knowledge of the subject matter of his testimony as would enable him to give guidance and assistance to the jury in resolving a factual issue which is beyond the scope of the jury's good judgment and

common knowledge.” State v. Goode, 305 S.C. 176, 178, 406 S.E.2d 391, 393 (Ct. App. 1991). An expert can become sufficiently qualified to be able to provide an opinion helpful to the trier of fact in many ways. Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc., 376 S.C. 545, 556, 658 S.E.2d 80, 86 (2008).

In the instant case, Dr. Benedetto testified she is employed with the Assessment and Resource Center (ARC), which is a child advocacy center that is part of the South Carolina Department of Mental Health, for twelve years. She is the director of ARC since December 2012. She was a chief psychologist the preceding eleven years. ROA p. 204, lines 3-16.

Dr. Benedetto testified that along with administrative duties, she provides forensic interviews, training, and consultation on matters related to child abuse. ROA pp. 204-205. Dr. Benedetto is a licensed clinical psychologist in the State of South Carolina. ROA p. 205, lines 10-11.

Dr. Benedetto earned an undergraduate degree from New York University in psychology. She earned her Master’s degree and Ph.D. from St. Johns University. ROA p. 205, lines 4-7. She then completed a one year internship at William S. Hall Psychiatric Institute through the Department of Mental Health in South Carolina. She continues to maintain continuing education credits and participates in ongoing learning opportunities. ROA p. 205, lines 14-20. She explained the purpose of continuing education is “to make sure that, as a psychologist, I stay abreast of all the most current research in particular in the area of child abuse.” ROA p. 205, lines 21-24. Dr. Benedetto belongs to the American Psychological Association and the Richland County Multidisciplinary Team for child sexual abuse. ROA p. 207, lines 9-14.

She provides training known as Finding Words and Child First for law enforcement professionals, DSS caseworkers, solicitors, and other professionals. Training includes “all aspects of how to best question children, child development principles, **dynamics of child sexual abuse**, issues about memory and suggestibility.” ROA p. 206, lines 1-11 (emphasis added). She also **teaches** an advanced course on the subject. ROA p. 206, lines 17-21.

Dr. Benedetto conducts forensic interviews on a daily basis. She also provides “therapeutic interventions and [is] trained in various therapy modalities to work with children.” ROA p. 207, line 23 – p. 208, line 2. Dr. Benedetto estimates she has interviewed somewhere between 1,500 and 2,000 children. She has been qualified as an expert in various courts roughly a hundred times. ROA pp. 208-209.

Dr. Benedetto explained “[c]hild abuse dynamics refers to how children experience abuse.” ROA p. 209, lines 13-17. She further explained: “There are many empirical studies of it. Many – there’s a large body of research on various aspects of how children respond to abuse.” ROA p. 209, lines 19-21.

Dr. Benedetto explained during Cartwright’s voir dire that “I’m not a researcher. I’m a clinician. So, I conduct interviews. I don’t conduct the studies.” ROA p. 201, lines 18-19. Cartwright hangs his hat on this statement in hopes that this Court will not read the entirety of Rule 702, SCRE. However, qualifying Dr. Benedetto as an expert witness was not error. By way of example, in Graves v. CAS Medical Systems, 401 S.C. 63, 735 S.E.2d 650 (2012), our Supreme Court found the circuit court erred by not allowing a doctor to be qualified as an expert on Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (SIDS) even though the doctor testified she did not consider herself an expert on SIDS. Id. at 78, 735 S.E.2d at 657. The

Court noted “an expert need not be a specialist in the particular branch of the field.” Id. The doctor had thirty years’ experience as a neonatologist and stayed current on SIDS literature. The doctor routinely encountered SIDS in her practice. The Court found that the circuit court abused its discretion in excluding the testimony. Id. at 78, 735 S.E.2d at 657-58.

In Honea v. Prior, 295 S.C. 526, 389 S.E.2d 846 (Ct. App. 1988), Prior contended the circuit court erred in qualifying two social workers as experts to testify on a victim’s mental condition. However, the Court of Appeals observed: “A witness may be competent to testify as an expert although the witness acquired his or her knowledge through practical experience **and not by scientific study, training, or research.**” Id. at 530, 369 S.E.2d at 849 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals found each social worker was qualified based on her education, post-graduate training, and clinical experience with victims of sexual assault, as well as her opportunities to observe the victim. Id. at 531, 369 S.E.2d at 849. In the instant case, Dr. Benedetto was well qualified to testify about child abuse dynamics. The trial court did not abuse its discretion.

Testimony does not constitute impermissible bolstering

The second issue Cartwright raises is the claim that Dr. Benedetto’s testimony bolstered the victims’ credibility, despite that Dr. Benedetto never testified about the victims or their credibility, and despite that Dr. Benedetto never met or interviewed the victims. The issue is not preserved for review.

Error preservation

“[A] specific objection to the admission of evidence must be made to preserve the issue for appeal.” McKissick v. J.F. Cleckley & Co., 325 S.C. 327, 344, 479 S.E.2d 67, 75

(Ct. App. 1996). “The objection should be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so that it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge.” Id. “The same ground argued on appeal must have been argued to the trial judge.” Id. The exact name of the legal doctrine employed does not need to be used to preserve an argument, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground. State v. Russell, 345 S.C. 128, 546 S.E.2d 202 (Ct. App. 2001).

In the instant case, Cartwright’s trial counsel objected to the testimony on the grounds that Dr. Benedetto was not qualified and that the science was not reliable. However, Cartwright’s trial counsel did not object on the grounds that the testimony was bolstering. A party cannot argue one ground below then argue another on appeal. State v. Prioleau, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001). This Court should not review the issue since it is not preserved for review.

Not bolstering – no comment by expert on victims’ credibility

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